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ALASKA WORKERS' COMPENSATION BOARD

P.O. Box 25512                                                                                                               Juneau, Alaska 99802-5512

	VIRGIL O. NORTON, 

                                                  Employee, 

                                                            Petitioner,

                                                   v. 

RURAL ALASKA COMMUNITY ACTION

PROGRAM, INC.,

                                                  Employer,

                                                   and 

ALASKA NATIONAL INSURANCE CO.,

                                                  Insurer,

                                                          Respondents.
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	          FINAL

          DECISION AND ORDER

        AWCB Case No.  200211513
        AWCB Decision No.04-0213  

         Filed with AWCB Anchorage, Alaska

         On September 8, 2004


On July 21, 2004, in Anchorage, Alaska, the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Board heard the employee's request for continuing medical benefits.  Attorney Robert Mason represented the employee.  Attorney Constance Livsey represented the employer.  At the close of hearing, the record remained open to allow submission of exhibits and medical records requested by the Board.  The Board received the employee's exhibits on July 22, 2004, and the medical records on August 9, 2004.
  The record closed when the Board next met on August 11, 2004.

ISSUE

1. Is the employee’s claim for medical costs for continuing medical benefits provided by Mario A. 
Lanza, M.D. barred due to an excessive change of physician in violation of AS 23.30.095(a)?

2. Is the employee entitled to attorney fees and costs?

SUMMARY OF THE EVIDENCE

On June 28, 2002, the employee was lifting and moving heavy floor beams when he noticed a loss of strength and control of his left arm, and pain in his left hand.
  At the time of the injury, the employee was working for the employer in a remote bush location as a construction worker/supervisor.

The employee left the job site on July 1, 2002, to seek medical treatment for his injury.
  The employee saw Mario A. Lanza, M.D., on July 1, 2002.  Based upon the employee's report, Dr. Lanza noted that when the employee was lifting heavy floor beams, he noticed pain radiating down the “posterior aspect” of his left arm and down the ulnar side of his forearm to his pinkie.
  Upon examination, Dr. Lanza found the employee had decreased strength to flexion in his left hand when compared to the right, and decreased vibration sensation in his left hand pinkie.
  Dr. Lanza’s assessment of the employee was arm pain, numbness and tingling, most likely due to ulnar nerve entrapment syndrome; he referred the employee to Kenneth Pervier, M.D., a neurologist, for Nerve Conduction Velocity  (“NCV”) tests.
  Dr. Lanza directed the employee to avoid strenuous activity and lifting heavy weights.
  

The employee followed up with Dr. Lanza on July 12, 2002, and again on July 25, 2002, at which time the employee was provided with a disability certificate that stated the employee was not to return to work, and was to be evaluated by radiology and neurology.
  A MRI
 spine cervical was taken on July 26, 2002, and interpreted by John J. McCormick, M.D.  His impression was a small midline protrusion at C6-7.
  
Dr. Lanza reviewed the results of the MRI with the employee on July 31, 2002.  Dr. Lanza’s impression was probable ulnar entrapment; he scheduled the patient for an EMG.
  On August 8, 2002, the employee underwent NCV tests and an EMG, conducted by Dr. Pervier.  He reported as follows: 

Overall, the EMG/NCV study suggests the possibility of some degree of impingement and brachial plexus/shoulder/lung apex region on the left.  MRI scan of the plexus/shoulder/upper lobes of the lung on the left would be recommended.

The employee saw Dr. Lanza again on August 12, 2002.  Dr. Lanza noted that Dr. Pervier found significant abnormalities on EMG and NCV. 
  Dr. Lanza referred the employee to Loren J. Jensen, M.D., an orthopedic specialist, and ordered a thoracic and lumbar MRI.
  The employee was not released to return to work because his job involved heavy physical labor.
  

Dr. Jensen saw the employee on August 12, 2002.  After conducting an examination, Dr. Jensen's impression was left ulnar nerve compressive symptoms and he opined brachial plexopathy should be ruled out.

On August 13, 2002, a second set of MRIs of the employee's thoracic spine, lumbosacral spine and left shoulder was taken and interpreted again by Dr. McCormick.  His impression of the MRI of the thoracic spine was that there was desiccation
 of disc material at all thoracic intervertebral disc spaces, there were end plate irregularities consistent with Schmorl’s nodes at several levels, and he found no other significant abnormalities.
  He noted minor changes in the MRI of the lumbosacral spine, consisting primarily of desiccation of disc material at L5 – S1 and to a lesser extent at L4 – L5.
  The MRI of the employee’s left shoulder was unremarkable.

An MRI of the employee’s brachial plexus was taken on August 26, 2002.  The August 26, 2002 MRI interpreted by Lawrence P. Wood, M.D., revealed, as before in the July 26, 2002 MRI, a small central disk bulge or protrusion at C6-7 with degenerative changes in the posterior facets at C6-7.
 Dr. Wood found no significant abnormality in the expected distribution of the left brachial plexus.

The employee saw Dr. Jensen on September 11, 2002, and again on October 15, 2002.
  On October 15, 2002, Dr. Jensen noted that he discussed the employee's case with Dr. Pervier, and the consensus was for further evaluation at the University of Washington, to determine whether compressible lesions existed and, if so, where.
  

Dr. Jensen referred the employee to Michael Weiss, M.D., from the University of Washington.  However, for reasons not reflected in the written record, the employee ultimately saw John M. Ravits, M.D., of the Virginia Mason Medical Center, for neurologic consultation.
  Dr. Ravits reported in the employee's history that the main symptom was a combination of pain, weakness, and numbness that began when the employee had a work injury on June 28, 2002.
  Dr. Ravits noted possible areas of progression included numbness and pain moving up the employee’s arm, symptoms in the right hand, and the employee feeling something in his left thigh, and down his left leg.
  Dr. Ravits reviewed MRI scans of the employee's cervical spine and found no root lesion.
  Dr. Ravits conducted a neurologic examination and found left ulnar sensory loss, and slight atrophy in the employee’s hand muscles.
  

Based upon the examination conducted by Dr. Ravits, his assessment was as follows:

1.  This is a patient with left-hand weakness, numbness, and pain.  I suspect brachial plexopathy of the lower trunk, rule out C8 or ulnar neuropathy.

2.    The patient has other less specific symptoms of unclear significance or pathogenesis.

3.   The patient has had a 15-pound weight loss and this in conjunction with heavy cigarette smoking history and the possible plexopathy are concerning.

Dr. Ravits ordered a chest x-ray, a laboratory screen to rule out systemic causes, and neurophysiologic studies.
  Based upon an EMG, Dr. Ravits reported the findings indicated a left ulnar mononeuropathy at the elbow segment; the pathophysiology was primarily conduction block; and a component of axon loss.

Dr. Ravits prescribed Amytriptyline and Neurontin for pain management, provided an exercise program in hand therapy, and an elbow pad for ulnar nerve protection.
  He indicated the employee should remain off work, and that ulnar nerve transposition should be considered if the symptoms worsened.

Alaskan National Insurance Company sent the employee a “Designate Attending Physician” form shortly after the employee was seen by Dr. Ravits.  The form states: “Designated Attending Physician means a doctor or physician who is primarily responsible for the treatment of a workers’ compensation injury.”  The form contains a line with a blank space to be filled in by the employee, which reads as follows: “My Designated Attending Physician is:_____________.”  In underlined bold print the form states, “Please fill out this form and return to our office.”  The employee filled in the blank with “John Ravits, M.D.,” signed the form on November 18, 2002, and returned it to Johanna Hill of Alaskan National Insurance Company.
    

Dr. Jensen saw the employee on December 18, 2002, at which time they discussed the surgical treatment of interior transposition of the ulnar nerve, because the patient continued to experience pain and weakness in ulnar nerve distribution, numbness in the small fingers, and pain extending up into the root of his neck.
  Dr. Jensen performed anterior transposition of the employee’s left ulnar nerve on January 8, 2003.  The preoperative and postoperative diagnosis was left cubicle tunnel syndrome.
  Dr. Jensen reported the procedure was necessary because the employee had a long complicated history of neurologic symptoms in his left upper extremity with ultimate electrodiagnostic documentation of ulnar nerve entrapment at the elbow.
  

After surgery, Dr. Jensen saw the employee on January 13, 2003, and January 20, 2003.  On the January 20, 2003 visit, the employee still experienced discomfort and numbness in his small fingers; Dr. Jensen’s impression was satisfactory postop left ulnar nerve transposition.

On February 10, 2003, the employee followed up with Dr. Jensen.  At that time, Dr. Jensen discussed return to work issues with the employee, and reported he expected the employee to be able to return to work in two months or convert to unemployment.
  Dr. Jensen provided the employee with an order for membership to a health club to attempt improvement of the employee's overall fitness.
  Dr. Jensen noted he would see the employee in a month.

Dr. Jensen faxed a memo to Alaska National Insurance Company on February 12, 2003, to refer the employee to Shawn P. Johnston, M.D., at Rehabilitation Medicine Associates, for further evaluation.  

On February 14, 2003, Jean Lilja, RN, BSN, Medical Rehabilitation, Alaska National Insurance Company, sent a letter to the employee, which stated, “I have been unable to contact you by telephone, and wanted to pass on the following information.  Your adjuster, Johanna Hill, has authorized one visit for evaluation.  
Dr. Loren Jensen has referred you to Shawn Johnston, M.D., Rehabilitation Medicine Associates, for further evaluation.”
  Neither the document nor the record reflect that a copy of this document was provided to Dr. Jensen or to Dr. Johnston.

On February 20, 2003, Johanna Hill, Claims Adjuster, Alaska National Insurance Company, sent a letter to the employee to advise him he was scheduled for an Independent Medical Evaluation (“EIME”) with 
Shawn Hadley, M.D.

The employee was evaluated by Dr. Johnston on February 25, 2003.  Dr. Johnston's impression/report/plan was as follows:

I do not think that he has a left ulnar neuropathy, which has been released, and it may take between 12 and 18 months for him to know how much functional return he's going to be able to get with this.  He may have some ongoing pain with this indefinitely.  We will try giving him some samples of Zonegran to see if this coupled with amitriptyline will alleviate some of his burning pain.  In addition, I am not certain whether or not any of his right-sided symptoms or lower extremity symptoms are in anyway associated with his work-related injury.  Again, these did come on at a significant period of time after the specific injury.  It is possible that there are two separate processes that are going on accounting for all of his symptoms.  I would like to repeat the EMG and include the right upper extremity as well as the left.  I will also talk with the radiologist about repeating the cervical MRI as well as the head MRI to come up with some explanation for why he has got the symptoms.  Again, to involve all four of the extremities this would need to be a bilateral process involving the brain, which seems very, very unlikely.  It is possible that this could represent some more bizarre perineoplastic type of syndrome with him having the weight loss and fevers/sweats.  But during his entire workup no specific focus for this has been found.  I will see him back for EMG and I will discuss the imaging portion of this with the radiologist. 

On February 27, 2003, Dr. Johnston reported the results of the electric diagnostic study as follows:

There is electrophysiologic evidence of left ulnar neuropathy. . . .  I suspect that over a period of approximately a year, he will gain back as much function as he is likely to.  I do not find any abnormal neuropathic process involving his right upper extremity to account for his periodic symptoms there.  I would recommend that if his symptoms do worsen about the left elbow, that we contact the surgeon once again to see if truly we need to redo the ulnar transposition.  But at the current time, he is making some significant functional improvement and it would be reasonable, I think, to take a wait-and-see approach and use his clinical examination as our guideline.  We will continue with the Zonegran and I will get him doing a physical therapy program for over two to three sessions to teach him what exercises he can do, when he does his independent gym program.  I will see him back in follow-up in six weeks or sooner if his symptoms were to worsen.

Dr. Johnston referred the employee to John DeCarlo, O.T.R., of OrthoSport/BEAR, for an occupational therapy evaluation, and the employee’s first appointment was March 5, 2003.  Mr. DeCarlo found the patient presented with ulnar nerve neuropathy, and indicated his ulnar nerve transposition slipped back into the cubital tunnel.
  Mr. DeCarlo noted he would request the operative report from Dr. Jensen to determine what procedure was done and felt, in the meantime, the employee would benefit from ulnar nerve glides, Heelbo to protect the elbow, and 35 - degree elbow extension splint for sleeping.
  Mr. DeCarlo’s plan was to provide occupational therapy for three weeks; he established short and long-term goals for the employee.
  

At the employer’s request, on March 7, 2003, Dr. Hadley performed an EIME.  Dr. Hadley had no clear diagnosis for the employee’s right upper extremity complaints.  She referred the employee for a second opinion evaluation, to include electric diagnostic studies, with Jacqueline Wertsch, Professor, Medical College of Wisconsin in Milwaukee, for Dr. Hadley knew Dr. Wertsch as a nationally recognized expert of upper extremity entrapment neuropathies, particularly those involving the ulnar nerve.
  Dr. Hadley indicated there were potentially serious treatment considerations for the employee, given his reported lack of clinical improvement with the ulnar nerve surgery, and the question of failure of the ulnar nerve transposition.
  Dr. Hadley did not recommend any additional invasive procedures until Dr. Wertsch’s evaluation, with necessary electrodiagnostics, was completed.
  Dr. Hadley also deferred all of the questions, including medical stability and the employee's ability to return to work, until completion of the evaluation with Dr. Wertsch.

Alaska National Insurance Company sent the employee two forms a “Change Of Designated Attending Physician” form, and a “Designate Attending Physician” form.  The employee signed the “Change Of Designated Attending Physician” form on May 1, 2003.  The form contains the statement, “Designated Attending Physician means that doctor or physician who is primarily responsible for the treatment of the worker’s compensable injury.”  The form contains a line with a blank space to be filled in by the employee, which reads as follows: “My Designated Attending Physician is:_____________.”  The employee filled in the blank with “Dr. Johnson,” signed the form on May 1, 2003.  Another section of the form stated, “I wish to change my Designated Attending Physician to:__________.”  The form has a blank for the employee to fill in the physician’s name and has a blank to fill in an effective date of the change.  The employee did not complete these spaces on the form.  He returned the form to Johanna Hill of Alaska National Insurance Company.    On that same date, the employee completed a second form, provided by Alaska National Insurance Company, entitled, “Designate Attending Physician.”  He completed the blank for “My Designated Attending Physician is:” with “Dr. Johnson.”  In underlined, bold print the form states, “Please fill out this form and return to our office.”  The employee completed and returned this form to Alaska National Insurance Company on May 1, 2003. 

Dr. Wertsch performed a second EIME of the employee on June 13, 2003.  Her impression was left brachial plexopathy; left ulnar nerve evaluation revealed the nerve was sitting on top of the medial epicondyle; axon loss was found when compared to preoperative electrodiagnostic studies, and eventual need for revision to submuscular position; no neurologic pattern or positive physical findings of the symptoms in the employee’s right upper extremity and bilateral foot dorsum were found.
  

On July 7, 2003, Dr. Johnston saw the employee for follow-up.  Dr. Johnston discussed subtle changes that were suggestive of incomplete brachial plexus lesion rather than an ulnar nerve entrapment with 
Dr. Wertsch.
  Dr. Johnston noted that the employee’s ulnar nerve was very superficial on the medial elbow and may have to be moved once again.
  He stated the employee was not medically stable and that medical stability could be determined once the employee’s strength was stable; and once the employee reached medical stability, he would conduct a permanent partial impairment rating.
  Dr. Johnston suggested the employee be referred to Dr. Brad Mason to determine if the left ulnar nerve could be moved so that it was not so superficial and at risk of further damage.

Dr. Hadley provided an addendum to her EIME report to Johanna Hill, Alaska National Insurance Company, after having had an opportunity to review Dr. Wertsch’s electrodiagnostic consultation report regarding the employee’s condition.  Dr. Hadley stated, as follows:

The report from Dr. Wertsch identifies a primary diagnosis of a brachial plexopathy, with patchy involvement, with the lower trunk most affected.  It is impossible to determine at this date if there was truly separate lesion of the ulnar nerve at the elbow; however, at this point the ulnar nerve has been operated, and patient is experiencing some postoperative complications of residual pain.  Dr. Wertsch determined that the ulnar nerve had in fact not relocated to the ulnar groove but was sitting anterior to or above the medial epicondyle.

I would consider the ulnar nerve complaints to be related to the work injury of June 28, 2002, as the ulnar nerve was initially treated as a part of the constellation of complaints related to that work injury.

Dr. Hadley agreed with Dr. Johnston that the employee had not achieved medical stability for any claim related condition.
  Dr. Hadley recommended a re-evaluation with Dr. Jensen to determine if the employee required a submuscular positioning of his ulnar nerve.
  Further, in responding to questions posed by the employer, Dr. Hadley opined it was premature to prepare a permanent partial impairment rating prior to determining the employee’s medical stability.
  Dr. Hadley reviewed RuralCAP Alaska, Inc.’s job description for construction supervisor, the position the employee held at the time of his injury, and opined that because the job required lifting of 70 pounds, it was beyond the employee's physical capabilities.
 It was Dr. Hadley's opinion, based on her evaluation of the employee, that he would be capable of full-time sedentary or light-duty employment, but would have to avoid extreme repetitive flexion and extension of his left elbow.
  Dr. Hadley indicated the restrictions she recommended were related to the employee's work injury of June 28, 2002, with the primary injury of brachial plexopathy, with secondary issues regarding left ulnar nerve function.

Dr. Johnston made note of a telephone conversation he had with Jean Lilja, RN, BSN, Medical Rehabilitation, Alaska National Insurance Company, on August 14, 2003, regarding the employee.  Dr. Johnston indicated the employee was applying for vocational rehabilitation and medical stability was likely in January.
  He indicated the employee would have a permanent partial impairment, and a physical capacities evaluation would be necessary if there were questions regarding the employee’s return to work, otherwise, light to sedentary work was appropriate.
 

Dr. Johnston saw the employee on September 15, 2003, and indicated he would not be able to return to the type of work he performed at the time of his injury; however, Dr. Johnston noted the employee could be retrained to do a light to sedentary type of position.
  Because the employee had not reached medical stability, Dr. Johnston referred the employee to Dr. Jensen to determine if the nerve needed to be relocated.
  

On September 22, 2003, Dr. Jensen examined the employee and found improved strength in the employee’s hands, first dorsal interosseus atrophy, and that the nerve had not returned to the ulnar groove.
  Dr. Jensen’s impression was chronic pain and he indicated that, because the pain was generalized, he did not believe further surgical treatment was likely to provide relief to the employee.

The employer referred the employee for a physical capacities evaluation, which was conducted by Liz Dowler, Ph.D., CPE, OTR/L, CRC, of Situs on November 19, 2003.  Dr. Dowler’s November 25, 2003 report summary states:

Mr. Norton is a 57-year-old man who sustained an injury to left brachioplexis resulting in severe constant nerve pain and loss of muscle tone, sensation and range of motion.  In addition a left elbow reconstruction of the ulnar nerve was performed and has placed the nerve in a position of increased risk of injury.  The nerve now sits on top of the medial epicondyle, which makes it assessable to pressure, extension of the elbow beyond comfortable range and/or repetition of this movement, repetitive flexion and extension of the elbow.

Brachial plexopathy is decreased movement or sensation in the arm and shoulder, caused by impaired function of the brachial plexus (a nerve area that affects the arm).  Brachioplexis injuries as a result of a stretch or contusion and do not heal quickly are often serious and have guarded prognosis.  Nerve pain may be quite uncomfortable and may persist for a prolonged period of time.  Complications seen in Mr. Norton include partial loss of sensation in the hand and fingers, and deformity of the hand, which can lead to contractures.

Dr. Dowler reported the results of the physical assessment demonstrated the employee was able to use only his right-hand and arm for functional movement.
  She indicated the employee may use his left arm to assist in tasks; however, tasks must be short and within a comfortable range of motion, as it is activity of the arm that quickly increases the employee's pain level.
  The physical assessment showed the employee's sensation is decreased to the point that it affects his fine motor skills.
  Results of physical capacities testing revealed that the employee functions at the sedentary level of physical demand in terms of manual handling tasks performed at work; that walking greater than 10 minutes at a time causes dizziness; and his functioning ability directly after driving is decreased.
  Dr. Dowler found the employee is unable to do any job that requires fine motor skills.  In conclusion, Dr. Dowler stated as follows:

Mr. Norton is essentially a one-handed individual.  In addition he takes high levels of medication and constant use of the TENS unit to control his pain.  He needs to work at a sedentary job such that could be done at a computer.  Since he lives in a remote area he may need to be employed at a job he can do in his home at least part of the time.  If he had to leave the home for inspections or meetings occasionally he may be able to do this.  He is likely able to work full-time if his physical requirements levels are controlled to this minimal level of activity.  The more he stresses himself the higher his pain increases and then he is unable to control it.

On November 14, 2003, Ms. Lilja requested additional information from Dr. Johnston.  Dr. Johnston responded to Ms. Lilja, that all treatment related to the employee's left upper extremity was completed, but the employee may need ongoing medications.
  He also opined that the employee had not achieved medical stability, but would likely be medically stable upon his next visit with Dr. Johnston.
  
Dr. Johnston’s anticipated that when the employee reached medical stability, he would incur a ratable permanent partial impairment as a result of his June 28, 2002 injury.

Dr. Johnston saw the employee on December 8, 2003.  In his Impression/Report/Plan, Dr. Johnston stated as follows:

I have reviewed Mr. Norton's functional capacity evaluation, which appears as if he could do a sedentary type of job with one-handed activities.  For the most part, I do agree with this, although I do believe that the abilities with his right upper extremity with him only being able to lift or carry 10 lb, I do not believe that this is a valid representation of what he truly can do.  I do believe that the left hand is weaker in the lifting and carrying, but again I believe the 3 lb limit that he achieved on his functional capacity evaluation was not representative of what he is physically capable of being able to do.  Nonetheless, I do still believe that a sedentary-to-light-duty position is likely going to be the best position for him given that he is only able to do typically single-handed activities.  Follow-up will be in 10 to 12 weeks or sooner if his symptoms were to worsen.  We will try Zonegran instead of amitriptyline for relief of his pain.

Lulie Williams, M.S., CDMS, Rehabilitation Specialist, of D&W REHAB, INC., was assigned to evaluate if the employee was eligible for reemployment benefits.  On September 15, 2003, the employee was found eligible for reemployment benefits.  On December 30, 2003, Dr. Johnston responded to questions posed by Ms. Williams.  Dr. Johnston opined that the employee was able to participate in a full-time retraining program immediately.
  Ms. Williams provided Dr. Johnston with a copy of the United States Department of Labor’s Selected Characteristics of Occupation’s Defined in the Dictionary of Occupational Titles (“SCODDOT”) job description for taxidermist, a medium duty position.  Dr. Johnston indicated the employee had sufficient residual physical capacities to perform the job of taxidermist eight hours a day as described in the SCODDOT.

On March 1, 2004, the employee was provided the “Change of Designated Attending Physician” he partially completed on May 1, 2003.  It was the top portion of the form that was originally completed on May 1, 2003, and designated Dr. Johnston as the employee’s “Current Designated Attending Physician.” 
  On March 1, 2004, the employee completed the bottom portion of the form, which states, “I wish to change my Designated Attending Physician to,” and leaves a blank for the employee to complete with the physician’s name.  The employee filled this blank in with “Mario Lanza,” and returned the form to Alaska National Insurance Company.

On March 8, 2004, Dr. Lanza followed up with the employee.  Dr. Lanza reviewed the employee's medical records in their entirety.  Dr. Lanza agreed with Dr. Johnston, that the employee could be rehabilitated, but would have to perform a job that was suitable for a one-armed man.
  Dr. Lanza stated:

The patient is in need of vocational retraining and was initially scheduled for vocational retraining as a taxidermist.  However, this is a very difficult business to get into and it is very unlikely that the patient would be able to make a living this way.  Obviously, it requires skill and dexterity with both hands and, again, he essentially has no significant use of his left arm.  Therefore, taxidermy or any other field requiring fine motor coordination would be unreasonable for this patient.

Dr. Lanza next saw the employee on March 18, 2004, for follow-up of left upper extremity and the lower extremity pain and weakness.  The employee reported significant problems with vertigo and/or lightheadedness, the inability to move his head without experiencing vertigo, falling on several occasions and injuring himself by falling into a hot stove.
  To determine if these symptoms were side effects of amitriptyline, Dr. Lanza instructed the employee how to taper this medication.  Dr. Lanza planned to follow-up of the employee in two weeks.
  Prior to the follow-up appointment, the employer controverted medical benefits for treatment with Dr. Lanza.

At the request of the employer, Dr. Hadley conducted a follow-up EIME on April 7, 2004.  Dr. Hadley examined the employee and reviewed medical records from April 1, 2003 through December 30, 2003.  Her impressions were as follows:

1. Left brachial plexus injury, with widespread involvement, with the most significant involvement affecting the lower trunk.  Clinically, this can get an appearance similar to an ulnar neuropathy.  As noted, Mr. Norton has had ulnar nerve transposition of the elbow.  Although his grip strength testing overall is diminished from that obtained in March 2003, this may reflect a level of deconditioning, as there was a comparable drop in grip strength in the right upper limb.

2. Four limb paresthesias, of uncertain etiology, rule out medication of fact, effect out early peripheral neuropathy. . . .

3. Incomplete database with respect to other health-related issues.  Mr. Norton has known COPD and has ongoing tobacco abuse.  It is of note that he has had persistently elevated heart rate (tachycardia), noted on examination of a year ago, again at the time of today's visit, as well as at the time of his PCE.  Amitriptyline can be associated with tachycardia.  Again, since he has only been off the medication for three days, there may still be residual medication effect explaining this finding.  Underlying cardiopulmonary disease cannot be excluded as a cause for this finding.

Dr. Hadley opined that if the employee was experiencing symptoms in his right shoulder/brachial plexus, and his legs, some of the paresthesias may be related to the medication the employee took to manage his neuropathic left upper limb pain.
  Otherwise, Dr. Hadley opined, if the employee was experiencing symptoms related to polyneuropathy, the symptoms were not related to the work injury of June 28, 2002.
 Further, when asked, “In your opinion, has all treatment related to Mr. Norton's 6/28/02 claim been completed at this time?” Dr. Hadley responded that continuation of some type of nonnarcotic medication for symptom management might be appropriate and that the employee needed to be counseled regarding the appropriate use of Tylenol.
  She discussed alternatives to the use of amytriptyline due to the possible adverse side effects of the drug, but opined the employee may do just as well off all medications.

Dr. Hadley opined that the employee was medically stable as of January 2004, which was when Dr. Johnston proposed preparing a PPI rating.
 Dr. Hadley assigned a 17 percent PPI rating under the AMA Guides to the Evaluation of Permanent Impairment, 5th edition. 
 
Dr. Hadley opined the employee was capable of sedentary work at a minimum and was likely able to perform light-duty work.
  For any work beyond a sedentary level, she recommended a physical capacities evaluation be repeated with attention given to the validity criteria.
  Further recommendations included the following:

I have concerns regarding Mr. Norton’s baseline state of health, particularly with his tachycardia.  I would recommend basic medical screening, perhaps from Dr. Lanza, to include an EKG to make sure that Mr. Norton was medically able to exert himself fully to complete a PCE examination.  When medically cleared, I would recommend that the PCE be performed by Forooz Sakata.

Dr. Hadley reviewed SCODDOT descriptions for the sedentary/light-duties of assistant construction superintendent, building superintendent, residence leasing agent, and residential building inspector.  She deferred providing opinions regarding the employee's ability to perform these jobs pending results of a follow-up physical capacities evaluation (“PCE”), and agreed with Dr. Johnston that the PCE completed in November 2003 underestimated the employee's physical capabilities.

On June 21, 2004, Dr. Johnston responded to questions posed by Johanna Hill, Alaska National Insurance Company.  Dr. Johnston indicated that all treatment related to the employee's left upper extremity was complete, except the employee would need “symptomatic treatment.”
  Dr. Johnston opined that the employee achieved medical stability by March 2, 2004, and agreed with Dr. Hadley's methodology and calculation for the employee's left upper extremity rating.  Ms. Hill attached copies of SCODDOT descriptions for accounting clerk and cost estimator.
  In Dr. Johnston's opinion, the employee had the physical capabilities to perform these jobs.

Witness Testimony

The employee appeared and testified at the July 21, 2004 hearing.  The employee testified that he did not graduate from high school, but received a G.E.D.

The employee testified that Ms. Lilja scheduled his appointment with Dr. Ravits.  He testified that originally he was to see a physician at the University of Washington, selected by Dr. Jensen.  He testified that Ms. Lilja of Alaska National Insurance Company contacted him and told him the physician at the University of Washington was unavailable for three months, and asked him if he minded if she selected a physician.  The employee testified his response was, “The sooner the better.”  He testified that Ms. Lilja then made his appointment with Dr. Ravits.  He testified he saw Dr. Ravits for an evaluation on November 14, 2002, and that on November 19, 2002, he received the Designate Physician form and a Release of Medical Information form, so he signed both forms and sent them back to Alaska National Insurance Company. 

The employee testified he was told he was only going to see Dr. Ravits for tests, and would be coming back to Alaska for whatever was next.  He testified that he, therefore, had no intent to see Dr. Ravits again after November 14, 2002 appointment.  

The employee testified that every time he went to a different doctor he got a letter from Alaska National Insurance Company with a release of information and a change of physician form.  He testified that the change of physician forms always said, “Please sign and send back.”  So, he testified, he signed a release and a “Designate Attending Physician” form for each place he went.  

The employee testified that Dr. Jensen reviewed the report of Dr. Ravits and operated on the ulnar nerve of his elbow.  The employee testified the surgery did not relieve any of his pain, but caused a constant dull ache on the inside of his elbow.  The employee testified that after the operation, Dr. Jensen was done with him.  When Dr. Jensen said, “Go to the gym and get well,” the employee testified he thought that Dr. Jensen was done with him.  He testified that, typically, after an appointment with Dr. Jensen, his next appointment would be scheduled; however, on the day Dr. Jensen gave him the prescription for the gym, another appointment was not scheduled.

The employee testified he was not aware that Dr. Jensen wanted, or that he expected to see him back in one month after the February 10, 2003 appointment.  The employee testified he was not aware that Dr. Jensen contemplated providing continuing treatment to him.

The employee testified that he did not know what “Go to the gym and get well” meant, so he left the February 10, 2003 appointment with Dr. Jensen and went to Alaska National Insurance Company’s office and spoke to Ms. Lilja and Ms. Hill about going to the gym.  Additionally, the employee testified that he, Ms. Lilja and Ms. Hill discussed what physician he would be treating with in the future.  During this meeting, the employee testified, Dr. Johnston's name was not mentioned.  The employee testified Ms. Hill and Ms. Lilja told him they would find somebody to treat him.  He testified he then got a letter that said they found Dr. Johnston and Dr. Hadley.  

The employee testified he called Dr. Johnston’s office to verify his appointment, and then he called Ms. Lilja and told her he was going to see Dr. Johnston.  During the same call, the employee testified he asked Ms. Lilja about Dr. Hadley.  He testified it was at this time that Ms. Lilja notified him that Dr. Hadley was the employer’s doctor.

The employee testified that he went to see Dr. Johnston and Dr. Hadley at the request of Ms. Lilja.  The employee testified he was not aware that Dr. Jensen made a referral to Dr. Johnston.  He testified that when he went to see Dr. Johnston and Dr. Hadley, it was because Ms. Lilja arranged for him to do so.  He testified he went to see Dr. Johnston, but it was his understanding that Alaska National Insurance Company made the referral, not Dr. Jensen.  The employee reasoned that, if Dr. Jensen made the referral, it was at the request of Alaska National Insurance Company.

The employee testified that he signed all the forms he received from Alaska National Insurance Company, including the “Designate Attending Physician” form and “Change of Designated Attending Physician” form.  The employee testified he thought the significance of the forms was to provide a release of medical information and a method for the employer and Alaska National Insurance Company to keep track of his physicians, and where he was.  

The employee testified that his appointments with Dr. Johnston lasted less than 15 minutes.  He testified that when he tried to talk to Dr. Johnston about his right arm and leg, Dr. Johnston would only say, “Let’s get back to the elbow.”  

The employee testified that Dr. Lanza is his family physician and, therefore, he has always considered him to be his treating physician.  He testified that Dr. Lanza is the physician who originally treated him before he was referred to all the other doctors and, therefore, when Dr. Johnston could not help him anymore, he went back to Dr. Lanza.

Summary of Arguments

1. Employee’s Argument
The employee argues that the statute and regulation governing a change of physician are designed to prevent doctor shopping and preclude an employee from searching for a doctor whose opinion will support the employee's position in a case.  The employee further argues that if a physician is not providing treatment, or concludes that further treatment is not necessary, then a change in physician is allowed under Bloom v. Tekton, Inc., 5 P.3d 235 (Alaska 2000) and Endres v. Cook Inlet Tribal Council, Inc. AWCB Decision 02-0230 (November 4, 2002).

The employee argues that his return to Dr. Lanza is not doctor shopping.  He asserts that he returned to Dr. Lanza, his family physician, and his treating physician, because Dr. Johnston had nothing further to offer.  The employee argues that he returned to Dr. Lanza to seek medical treatment for those conditions Dr. Johnston refused to address, specifically, his leg and his right arm.  The employee further argues this cannot be construed as doctor shopping because Dr. Lanza initiated that same course of treatment recommended by Dr. Hadley, that is, weaning the employee off amitriptyline and discontinuing its use, to determine if the employee’s symptoms were related to the medication as opposed to the June 28, 2002 injury.  The employee asserts that when an employer’s physician and an employee’s physician agree on the course of treatment, the employee’s selection of the physician should not be viewed as doctor shopping.

The employee encouraged the board to examine Alaska National Insurance Company's practice of sending out “Designate Attending Physician” forms and “Change of Designated Attending Physician” forms to employees.  The employee suggested the forms are sent out to get employees to exhaust their choices and get unsuspecting and unknowing employees to sign the forms and send them back.

2. Employer’s Argument
The employer argues that the employee's return to Dr. Lanza is an excessive change of physician and, therefore, it rightfully controverted medical treatment received from Dr. Lanza.  The employer argues that the employee’s attending physician was Dr. Lanza, that the employee initially designated Dr. Ravits as his treating physician, that he then changed his treating physician to Dr. Johnston.  The employer does not consent to an additional change in treating physician; and argues Dr. Lanza represents an excessive and unauthorized change of physician by the employee under AS 23.30.095(a), Jaouhar v. Marenco, Inc., AWCB Decision No. 98-0166 (June 24, 1998), and Sherburne v. United Parcel Service, AWCB Decision No. 98-0283 (November 16, 1998).

Additionally, the employer argues that this is not a substitution of physician, but rather it is a change.  The employer argues that the employee’s assertion that Dr. Lanza is a substitution of physician because Dr. Johnston had nothing further to offer, is debunked by the evidence in the file.  The employer argues that the employee is doctor shopping.

FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

I.
Excessive Change in Physician.
The Alaska Workers' Compensation Act (the Act), AS 23.30 et. seq., gives each injured worker the right to choose an attending physician. AS 23.30.095(a).  Similarly the employer has a right to choose a physician to examine the employee.  AS 23.30.095(e).  However, to curb potential abuses -- especially doctor shopping -- the Act allows an injured worker or employer to change designated physicians only once without the consent of the other.  The rule against excessive change of physician is intended to curb opinion shopping.  See e.g., HCS CS SB 322 (L&C) Sectional Analysis dated April 6, 1988.  However, when a designated physician refers the injured employee to a specialist, this is not considered a change in physician.  AS 23.30.095(a) and (e).  

AS 23.30.095 provides in relevant part:

(a) . . .Where medical care is required, the injured employee may designate a licensed physician to provide all medical and related benefits.  The employee may not make more than one change in the employee’s choice of attending physician without the written consent of the employer.  Referral to a specialist by the employee’s attending physician is not considered a change in physicians. . . 

(e) The employee shall, after an injury, at reasonable times during the continuance of the disability, if requested by the employer or when ordered by the board, submit to an examination by a physician or surgeon of the employer’s choice . . .The employer may not make more than one change in the employer’s choice of physician or surgeon without the written consent of the employee.  Referral to a specialist by the employer’s physician is not considered a change in physicians. . . .

8 AAC 45.082(c)(2)(B) states in part:

(2) . . .An employee does not designate a physician as an attending physician if the employee gets service . . .

(B) from a physician 

(i) whose name was given to the employee by the employer and the employee does not designate that physician as the attending physician;

(ii) whom the employer directed the employee to see and the employee does not designate that physician as the attending physician; or whose appointment was set, schedule, or arranged by the employer and the employee does not designate that physician as the attending physician.

The employer argues that the employee engaged in an unauthorized, excessive change of physician when he returned to Dr. Lanza for continued treatment.

The Board finds it is undisputed that Dr. Lanza initially saw the employee for his June 28, 2002 injury, and that Dr. Lanza referred the employee to Dr. Pervier for a neurologic evaluation.  The Board also finds it is undisputed that Dr. Lanza referred the employee to Dr. Jensen, an orthopedic specialist.  The Board finds that, while being treated by Dr. Jensen, the employee was referred to Dr. Weiss of the University of Washington for further evaluation of compression lesions.  The Board finds the employee did not see 
Dr. Weiss, but rather that Ms. Lilja of Alaska National Insurance Company arranged an evaluation of the employee by Dr. Ravits, of the Virginia Mason Clinic.  After the employee's one and only evaluation by 
Dr. Ravits, the Board finds the employee was sent a “Designate Attending Physician” form by Alaska National Insurance Company.  The employee completed the form and returned it to the employer.  After returning the form, the employee was not seen again by Dr. Ravits.  

Dr. Jensen performed left ulnar nerve transposition surgery on January 8, 2003, yet it did not alleviated the employee’s symptoms, as he continued to experience discomfort and numbness.  The employee, throughout his testimony, stated that on February 10, 2003, Dr. Jensen told him to “Go to the gym, and get well.”  The employee testified he believed Dr. Jensen was done with him.  Under AS 23.30.122, 
 the Board finds the employee’s testimony credible.  

The employee further testified he did not know what “Go to the gym, and get well” meant, so he went to Alaska National Insurance Company's office and spoke to Ms. Lilja and Ms. Hill about going to the gym.  During that visit, Ms. Lilja and Ms. Hill discussed with the employee his future treatment.  On February 12, 2003, Dr. Jensen referred the employee for evaluation to Dr. Johnston.  Authorization for one visit to 
Dr. Johnston for evaluation was given.  The Board finds nothing in the record that notice of this limited authorization was provided to Dr. Jensen or Dr. Johnston.  The Board finds it required more than one visit for Dr. Johnston to complete his evaluation; and upon completion, Dr. Johnston continued to schedule appointments with the employee and referred the employee for occupational therapy.  The Board finds the employee’s testimony that he went to Dr. Johnston at Alaska National Insurance Company’s request, credible.  

The Board finds the employee was sent a “Change of Designated Attending Physician” form and a “Designate Attending Physician” form by Alaska National Insurance Company, both of which the employee completed and returned to the employer on May 1, 2003.  On the “Change of Designated Attending Physician” form, the employee did not complete the section of the form that stated, “I wish to change my Designated Attending Physician to_____.”  The employee testified he routinely completed and returned all forms sent to him by Alaska National Insurance Company because he thought that was the insurance company’s method of tracking his treatment and that the forms served as releases of medical information.  The Board finds the employee’s testimony credible under AS 23.30.122.

The Board finds that on November 14, 2003, Dr. Johnston indicated that all treatment related to the employee's injury was complete, but that the employee may need ongoing medication.  The Board finds the employee returned to Dr. Lanza on March 8, 2004, for follow-up after an extensive absence. 

Based upon the record in this case, including Dr. Jensen’s referral and the employee’s testimony, the Board finds that the employee was referred to Dr. Johnston under 8 AAC 45.082(c)(2)(B) and, therefore, that Dr. Johnston was not the employee’s attending physician.  Based upon the employee’s testimony, the Board finds the employee, in completing the “Change of Designated Attending Physician” and “Designate Attending Physician” forms, did not intend to designate Dr. Johnston as his attending physician, but rather believed he was informing Alaska National Insurance Company of his treatment, at its request.  The Board finds that the employee’s return to Dr. Lanza for continued treatment was a return to his attending physician, and does not constitute an excessive change of physician under AS 23.30.095(a).


a.
The Employee’s Attending Physician
The employer argues that Dr. Johnston is the employee’s designated treating physician pursuant to the “Designate Attending Physician” and “Change of Designated Attending Physician” forms completed and submitted by the employee.  

The Board finds the employee did not understand the legal implications of the “Designate Attending Physician” and “Change of Designated Attending Physician” forms.  Under AS 23.30.122 the Board finds the employee's testimony credible.  The Board finds that the employee believed he was referred to 
Dr. Ravits and Dr. Johnston by the employer, that he signed forms because he believed the forms served as releases of medical information, and that he was required to sign them in order to keep the employer informed of the physicians he was seeing, and where his treatment was at; not to actually designate either Dr. Ravits or Dr. Johnston as his attending physicians.  The Board finds that, just as sending the forms was a pattern and practice of Alaska National Insurance Company in this case, completing and returning the forms pursuant to the instructions on the forms, “Please fill out this form and return to our office,” was a faithful practice of the employee.  The Board finds the employee did not understand the potential consequence of his compliance with these instructions.

Balancing the purpose and goal of the prohibition on changing physicians more than once, the Board concludes that neither Dr. Ravits nor Dr. Johnston were designated attending physicians of the employee.  The Board finds the employee never intended to designate either Dr. Ravits or Dr. Johnston as his attending physicians.  The Board concludes that Dr. Lanza was the employee’s attending physician from the initial visit on July 1, 2002, and Dr. Jensen, a referral from Dr. Lanza, was a specialist coordinating the employee’s treatment.  The Board concludes the employee did not have an excessive change of physician in violation of AS 23.30.095(a).

b.
Substitution versus Change of Physician and Doctor Shopping

In determining if the employee engaged in an excessive change in physicians, in the alternative, the Board will also address the parties’ arguments regarding substitution versus a change of physician and doctor shopping.

The employee argues that it is not a change in physicians when the treating doctor has nothing more to offer the employee, and the medical condition persists, and that Bloom v. Tekton, Inc., 5 P.3d 235 (Alaska 2000), is applicable in this case.

The employer argues that Bloom, does not apply in this case because Bloom deals with a substitution of physicians, and this case is not a substitution, it is a change of physicians.  The employer argues the employee is, in fact, engaging in doctor shopping and, therefore, the Board’s decision in Jaouhar v. Marenco, Inc., AWCB Decision No. 98-0166 (June 24, 1998), bears more closely upon the facts of this case.

The Board finds Jaouhar distinguishable from the case before the Board.  In Jaouhar, the Board found the employee made a conscious choice to switch from Dr. Ryan, her original attending physician who refused to refer the employee to an anesthesia pain clinic, to Dr. Swift, for pain management of work-related injuries.  Jaouhar, AWCB Decision No. 98-0166 at 6 (emphasis added).  Therefore, when the employee in that case began treating with Dr. Matthisen, this change of physician was found to be an excessive change in attending physicians, and Dr. Matthisen’s referral to Dr. Ferris was found to be unauthorized.  In the instant case, the Board finds that the employee did not make a conscious choice to switch physicians, but rather, he believed that Dr. Jensen’s treatment of him was complete on February 10, 2003, and that Alaska National Insurance Company referred him to Dr. Johnston for future treatment.  The Board finds the employee was unaware of Dr. Jensen’s February 12, 2003 referral note provided to Alaska National Insurance Company.  The board further finds that neither Dr. Jensen nor Dr. Johnston were provided a copy of the notice that only one visit with Dr. Johnston was approved.

The Board has found in past decisions that the purpose of the provisions in AS 23.30.095(a) and (e) is to curtail the parties’ ability to frequently change physicians, thereby reducing the practice known as “doctor shopping.”  Doctor shopping is the practice of consulting numerous physicians until a physician is found who supports the particular party's position regarding some aspect of the workers’ compensation claim.

In Bloom, 5 P.3d 235, the employee exercised his option to change attending physicians.  In that case, the employee's last attending physician refused to treat him; however, did provide a referral.  The physician to whom the referral was made concluded the employee did not need further treatment.  The Board ruled that the employee's dissatisfaction with the opinion of the physician to whom the referral was made did not entitle the employee to choose a new attending physician without the employer's consent.  The Alaska Supreme Court found the Board improperly denied the employee’s right to choose a new physician because the physician to whom the referral was made was not the employee's attending physician, his conclusions did not determine the employee's right to name a new attending physician and, under the circumstances, 
AS 23.30.095(a) gave the employee the right to name a new attending physician.  Further, because the employee had seen the physician to whom the referral was made by referral, rather than as an attending physician, the employee's reasons for wanting a different physician were immaterial.

The Court in Bloom at 238, in dicta, notes that the Board's regulation at 8 AAC 45.082(c)(4)(B): 

…is persuasive to the degree that it embodies the Board established policy of allowing employees to freely substitute attending physicians and circumstances where it is clear that employees are not engaged in doctor shopping, and where factors outside the employees’ control have rendered it possible for them to receive care from their chosen physicians.

Allowing an employee to substitute attending physicians when the employee's current physician becomes unwilling or unavailable to treat is consistent with the well-settled rule that under AS 23.30.095(a) an injured worker is presumed entitled to continuing medical treatment.

The Board previously found that on February 10, 2003, Dr. Jensen told the employee to “Go to the gym, and get well.”  The Board found previously that, at that point, Dr. Jensen’s treatment of the employee was complete.  The Board finds the employer was unable to refute or rebut the employee’s assertion that he believed Dr. Jensen was done with him.  Therefore, the Board finds that on February 10, 2003, Dr. Jensen refused to treat the employee.  As such, under the substitution principle, the Board finds Dr. Johnston was a substitution of Dr. Jensen.

The Board finds that Dr. Johnston completed treatment of the employee on November 20, 2003, based upon his response to Alaska National Insurance Company’s inquiries regarding the employee’s need for further treatment for the injuries to his left upper extremities, when Dr. Johnston responded that all treatment related to the employee's left upper extremity was complete, but the employee may need ongoing medication.  Based upon the record in this case, the Board also finds that Dr. Johnston refused to treat the employee’s leg and right arm, for when the employee raised concerns to Dr. Johnston, Dr. Johnston would only focus on the employee's elbow.  Further, the Board found nothing in the medical records provided from Dr. Johnston that indicated he was willing to address this concern of the employee.  The Board finds that Dr. Johnston was unwilling to continue to provide care to the employee.

Under these circumstances because Dr. Johnston was unwilling to address the employee's concerns regarding his leg and right arm, if Dr. Johnston were the employee’s attending physician, AS 23.30.095(a) gives the employee the right to name a new attending physician.  Under Bloom at 239, the Court states: 

When a worker’s attending physician becomes unwilling or unable to continue care, concerns over the possibility of doctor shopping assume secondary importance and cannot override the statutes primary purpose of allowing injured workers to choose their attending physicians -- the purpose best served by allowing the worker to freely substitute a new attending physician.

Had the Board not found that the employee’s attending physician to be Dr. Lanza, the same result would be reached by analyzing this issue under Bloom as a substitution of physicians.  Therefore, the Board concludes that the employee has not made an excessive change of physicians in violation of 
 AS 23.30.095(a).

II.
Past Medical Benefits for Treatment with Dr. Lanza and Continuing Entitlement

AS 23.30.095(a) provides, in part:

The employer shall furnish medical, surgical, and other attendance or treatment, nurse and hospital service, medicine, crutches, and apparatus for the period which the nature of the injury or the process of recovery requires....

The presumption of compensability under AS 23.30.120(a) specifically applies to claims for medical benefits.
  If complications from the injury or treatment occur, the subsequent treatment is still compensable, and the employer is still be liable for continuing medical benefits under subsection AS 23.30.095(a).
  Treatment must be reasonable and necessary to be payable under AS 23.30.095(a).
  

In Weidner & Associates v. Hibdon,
 the Alaska Supreme Court held specific medical treatment sought by an injured worker within two years of an injury is compensable, unless the employer can meet the “heavy burden” of proving such care is unreasonable, unnecessary and outside the scope of accepted medical practice.  The employer must demonstrate the treatment is neither reasonable, necessary, nor within the realm of acceptable medical practice.
  

In this case, the employer did not contest the necessity of the treatment provided by Dr. Lanza, but rather asserted it is not responsible for payment of medical benefits to Dr. Lanza because the employee made an impermissible and excessive change of physician.  The Board finds that the employer’s physician, Dr. Hadley, recommended that the employee return to Dr. Lanza, and also recommended that the use of an alternative to amytriptyline should be explored.  In review of the record of this case, the Board cannot find medical evidence to show the claimed medical benefits are not reasonable, not necessary, and not within the realm of acceptable medical practice.
  The Board finds Dr. Lanza is entitled to payment for the past care he has rendered to the employee in connection with his work injury.

Moreover, the Board finds the claimant is entitled to continuing medical benefits, pursuant to AS 23.30.095.  Similarly, the employer retains its rights and defenses under AS 23.30.095.  

II.
Attorney’s Fees and Costs

Under AS 23.30.145(b) the Board can award reasonable attorneys fees when an attorney assists an employee in obtaining medical benefits.  In addition, 8 AAC 45.180(d) requires that when the Board sets this fee, it must consider the nature, length and complexity of the attorney's services, and the resulting benefits.

AS 23.30.145(b) provides, in pertinent part:

If an employer fails to file timely notice of controversy or fails to pay compensation or medical and related benefits within 15 days after it becomes due or otherwise resists the payment of compensation or medical and related benefits and if the claimant has employed an attorney in the successful prosecution of the claim, the board shall make an award to reimburse the claimant for the costs in the proceedings, including a reasonable attorney fee.  The award is in addition to the compensation or medical and related benefits ordered.

Under AS 23.30.260 the employee’s attorney may receive fees in respect to the claim only with Board approval.  The Board finds the employee’s attorney has successfully obtained a benefit for the employee.  The Board finds the employer resisted payment of medical benefits to the employee’s treating physician, Dr. Lanza, when it controverted the employee’s claim on the grounds that treatment by Dr. Lanza was an excessive change in physician.  The Board finds the employee prevailed against the employer’s defense that the employee engaged in an excessive and unauthorized change of physician.  

AS 23.130.145 provides for attorney’s fees in order to ensure that injured workers are able to obtain effective representation. Underwater Construction, 884 P.2d at 159.  See also, Wien Air Alaska v. Arant, 592 P.2d 352, 365-66 (Alaska 1979), overruled on other grounds; Fairbanks N. Star Sch. Dist. v. Crider, 736 P.2d 770 (Alaska 1989).  The Court has found that where an employer “create[s] the employee’s need for legal assistance,” the employer is required to pay attorney fees.  Underwater Construction, at 159, citing Haile v. Pan American World Airways, Inc., 505 P.2d 838, 842 (Alaska 1973) (Rabinowitz, J., dissenting  in  part, concurring in part).

In this case, the employer’s actions required the employee to obtain representation.  The employer has been ordered to pay the employee certain claimed benefits.  Consequently, the Board can award reasonable fees and costs under AS 23.30.145(b).  Alaska Interstate v. Houston, 586 P.2d 618, 620 (Alaska 1978); Childs v. Copper Valley Electrical Association, 860 P.2d 1184, 1190 (Alaska 1993).

The Alaska Supreme Court in Wise Mechanical Contractors v. Bignell, 718 P.2d 971 (Alaska 1986), instructed the Board to fully compensate attorneys who successfully protect the benefits of injured workers.  The Court held that the Board’s attorney fee awards should be reasonable and fully compensatory, considering the contingency nature of representing injured workers, to insure adequate representation.  
Id. at 974-975.

In light of these legal principles, the Board has examined the record in this case and finds the employee’s attorney has successfully obtained a benefit for the employee.  Mr. Mason, attorney for the employee, provided an affidavit of attorney fees and costs, on July 13, 2004, with an un-notarized supplemental affidavit filed at the hearing, and sworn to by Mr. Mason.  The affidavits itemize 28.5 hours of time for attorney fees of $7,125.00, billed at $250.00 per hour, and costs of $4.80.  

The Board finds the employer resisted the employee’s claim for treatment by Dr. Lanza.  The Board finds the employee retained attorney Robert Mason who successfully prosecuted his claim for medical benefits.  The Board found the pre-hearing brief prepared by the employee’s attorney helpful, as it outlined the facts of the case, the medical records, and gave relevant and supporting research findings and analysis of the law.  The Board finds the employer did not contest the employee's claim for attorney fees and costs.  The Board has considered the nature, length and complexity, and benefits awarded in this case.  The Board finds this was a factually complex case.  The Board finds the benefits to the employee in this case are significant and substantial.  Accordingly, the Board finds that the requested fee of $250.00 per hour is reasonable in this instance.  The Board finds this hourly rate reflects the contingent nature of worker’s compensation practice.  Accordingly, the Board awards the employee attorney fees of $7,125.00 and costs of $4.80.  The Board finds that this amount is reasonable and was necessary.  

ORDER

1. The employee’s attending physician is Dr. Mario Lanza.

2. The employer shall pay past and medical benefits under AS 23.30.095(a) for the treatment the employee has received from Dr. Lanza.
3. The employer shall pay reasonable attorney fees and costs of $7,129.80.

Dated at Anchorage, Alaska this 8th day of September, 2004.
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If compensation is payable under the terms of this decision, it is due on the date of issue.  A penalty of 25 percent will accrue if not paid within 14 days of the due date, unless an interlocutory order staying payment is obtained in Superior Court.  If compensation is awarded, but not paid within 30 days of this decision, the person to whom the compensation is payable may, within one year after the default of payment, request from the board a supplementary order declaring the amount of the default.
APPEAL PROCEDURES
This compensation order is a final decision.  It becomes effective when filed in the office of the Board unless proceedings to appeal it are instituted.  Proceedings to appeal must be instituted in Superior Court within 30 days of the filing of this decision and be brought by a party in interest against the Board and all other parties to the proceedings before the Board, as provided in the Rules of Appellate Procedure of the State of Alaska.

RECONSIDERATION
A party may ask the Board to reconsider this decision by filing a petition for reconsideration under AS 44.62.540 and in accordance with 8 AAC 45.050.  The petition requesting reconsideration must be filed with the Board within 15 days after delivery or mailing of this decision.

MODIFICATION

Within one year after the rejection of a claim or within one year after the last payment of benefits under AS 23.30.180, 23.30.185, 23.30.190, 23.30.200 or 23.30.215 a party may ask the Board to modify this decision under AS 23.30.130 by filing a petition in accordance with 8 AAC 45.150 and 8 AAC 45.050. 
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� In addition to the records requested by the Board, documents were filed that go beyond the Board’s request.  These records were not in the Board’s possession 20 or more days before hearing, therefore, under 8 AAC 45.120, these documents will not be relied upon by the Board in reaching its decision, as there has not been an express waiver of the right to cross-examination.  Further, due to the sensitive, confidential, and privileged nature of the documents, they will be held in the Board’s file under seal.


� 6/28/02 Report of Occupational Injury or Illness


� Id. See note attached.


� 7/1/02 Chart Notes, Dr. Lanza


� Id.


� Id.


� Id.


� 7/25/02 Disability Certificate, Dr. Lanza


� Magnetic Resonance Image


� 7/26/02 MRI Spine Cervical Interpretation/Results, Dr. McCormick


� 7/31/02 Chart Notes, Dr. Lanza


� 8/8/02 NCV/EMG Study, Dr. Pervier


� 8/12/02 Chart Notes, Dr. Lanza


� Id.


� Id.


� 8/12/02 Chart Notes, Dr. Jensen 


� dehydration, drying, Mosby’s Medical, Nursing & Allied Health Dictionary, 6th Ed.  


� 8/13/02 MRI Spine Thoracic Interpretation/Results, Dr. McCormick at 1


� Id. at 1-2


� Id. at 2


� 8/28/02 Alaska Diagnostic Imaging, MRI Brachial Plexus Report, Dr. Wood


� Id.


� 9/11/02 and 10/15/02 Chart Notes, Dr. Jensen


� 10/15/02 Chart Notes, Dr. Jensen; 10/16/02 letter from Dr. Jensen to Michael Weiss, M.D.


� 11/12/02 Provider Notes, Dr. Ravits at 1


� Id.


� Id.


� Id.


� Id. at 2


� Id.


� Id. at 3


� 11/12/02 Electromyography Report, Dr. Ravits


� 11/14/02 Provider Notes, Dr. Ravits at 1


� Id. at 2


� 11/18/02 Alaska National Insurance Company Designate Attending Physician Form


� 12/18/02 Chart Notes, Dr. Jensen


� 1/8/03 Operative Report, Dr. Jensen


� Id.


� 1/20/03 Chart Notes, Dr. Jensen


� 2/10/03 Chart Notes, Dr. Jensen


� Id.


� Id.


� 2/14/04 Letter to employee from Ms. Lilja, Alaska National Insurance Company


� 2/20/03 Letter to employee from Johanna Hill, Alaska National Insurance Company


� 2/25/03 Evaluation Report, Dr. Johnston


� 2/27/03 Electrodiagnostic Study Report, Dr. Johnston


� 3/5/03 Occupational Therapy Evaluation, John DeCarlo, O.T.R., at 2


� Id.


� Id.


� 3/7/03 Employer’s Medical Evaluation Report, Dr. Hadley at 7


� Id.


� Id.


� Id.


� 6/13/03 Employer’s Medical Evaluation Report, Dr. Wertsch at 6-7


� 7/7/03 Chart Notes, Dr. Johnston


� Id.


� Id.


� Id.


� 7/31/03 Employer’s Medical Evaluation Report Addendum, Dr. Hadley at 1


� Id. at 2


� Id.


� Id.


� Id.


� Id.


� Id.


� 8/14/03 RMA Chart Notes, Dr. Johnston


� Id.


� 9/15/03 Chart Notes, Dr. Johnston


� Id.


� 9/22/03 Chart Notes, Dr. Jensen


� Id.


� 11/25/03 Physical Capacities Evaluation, Liz Dowler at 7-8


� Id. at 8


� Id.


� Id.


� Id.


� Id. at 8-9


� 11/20/03 Dr. Johnston’s Responses to Alaska National Insurance Company’s 11/14/03 Inquiries at 1


� Id. at 2


� Id.


� 12/8/04 Chart Notes, Dr. Johnston


� 12/30/03 Dr. Johnston’s Responses to Lulie Williams’ 12/22/03 Inquiries at 1


� Id. at3


� 5/1/03 Change of Designated Attending Physician Form


� 3/8/04 Chart Notes, Dr. Lanza


� Id.


� 3/18/04 Chart Notes, Dr. Lanza


� Id. the government to the program


� 4/7/04 Employer’s Independent Evaluation, Dr. Hadley at 6-7


� Id. at 7


� Id. 


� Id.


� Id.


� Id.


� Id. at 8.  The 17 percent whole person PPI rating was reached based upon ratings of 16 percent for sensory loss and 14 percent for motor loss.  These were combined via the combined values tables, yielding 28 percent impairment of the upper extremity, which converted to a 17 percent whole person impairment.


� Id.


� Id.


� Id. at 8-9


� Id. at 9


� Dr. Johnston’s 6/21/04 responses to Ms. Hill’s 6/17/04 questions at 1


� Id. at 2


� Id.


� AS 23.30.122, Credibility of witnesses, states in relevant part:  The Board has the sole power to determine credibility of the witness.  The finding by the Board concerning the way to be imported the witness's testimony, including medical testimony and reports, and is conclusive unity evidences conflicting or susceptible to the contrary conclusions.


� HCS CS SB 322 (L&C) Sectional Analysis dated April 6, 1988, states, in part:  “Its purpose is to prevent the abuse of frequent physician changes, with its resultant costly over treatment, by those seeking opinions to support their claims.”  


� The Board notes that both Dr. Hadley and Dr. Lanza indicated it was important to determine if the medication, amitriptyline, prescribed by Dr. Johnston, was causing the conditions in the employee’s leg and right arm.


� Municipality of Anchorage v. Carter, 818 P.2. 661, 665 (Alaska 1991).


� Kodiak Oilfield Haulers v. Adams, 777 P.2d 1145, 1149 (Alaska 1989); Toporowski v. Subway of Fairbanks, Inc., �AWCB Decision No. 00-0043  (March 9, 2000).


� See Weidner & Associates v. Hibdon, 989 P.2d 727, 731 (Alaska 1999).


� 989 P.2d at 731.


� See, e.g., Robles v. Wal-Mart, Inc., AWCB Decision No. 99-0260 (December 28, 1999).


� Hibdon, 989 P.2d at 731.  
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